C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Were the Klineburgers denied due process because they had no available forum to challenge Ecology's arguments when Ecology failed to follow statutory notice requirements?
- 2. Would the Pollution Control Hearings Board have even accepted an appeal from letters which failed to contain statutory appeal notice requirements?

- 3. If the letters from Ecology were appealable decisions, should the time to appeal them be tolled until proper notice is given?
- 4. Should the Court of Appeals have remanded the matter to the trial court for failure to join a necessary party rather than reverse the trial court's decision affecting the merits of the Department of Ecology ruling?
- 5. Should the Klineburger property even be considered within the floodway? If the property is in the floodway, did the Klineburgers meet the four criteria necessary to develop in the Moderate Migration Zone of a Floodway.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Stephen and Sandra Klineburger own property located about 800 feet south of the middle fork of the Snoqualmie River near North Bend, Washington. CP 411-12. It lies within the federally mapped floodway: the area of the river floodplain where flood depths and velocities may reach hazardous levels. CP 413.

County regulations divide a channel migration zone into moderate hazard areas and severe hazard areas. CP 409, 411. Because of the existence of a road between the river and the Klineburger's property, the County has designated the Klineburgers' property a moderate hazard area. CP 436-438.

The Klineburgers purchased the property in 2011. CP 583. They contend that the mobile home at issue was on the property then. CP 333.

On October 24, 2011, the code enforcement officer posted a stop work order on the mobile home, directing the Klineburgers to obtain the necessary permits and inspections. CP 263, 333-34.

On January 3, 2012, the Klineburgers attended a "pre-application meeting" with DPER about the required permits. CP 372-74. Contrary to the factual statement in the Court of Appeals decision, DPER did not inform the Klineburgers they could not build in a floodway unless they could establish their site qualified as an exception to the flood plain management regulations. CP 374. The County actually indicated "the property is in the flood way and nothing is allowed in the floodway." CP 374. The County further noted that, "they should file a CAD, before we can take this in and in the CAD, Don can do his floodway review which will say nothing is allowed." CP 374.

Development regulations provide an exception which allows repair or replacement, under certain circumstances, or a "substantially damaged" dwelling and such was the position of the County and Department of Ecology. CP 381-382; see WAC 173.158.030 (definition of replacement residential structure). The County told Klineburgers nothing is allowed in

the floodway. CP 421. The Klineburgers persisted and submitted their reports from various experts including William Taylor. CP 423-424.

On January 9, 2012, DPER issued the Klineburgers a notice of code violation and order of abatement. CP 260, 337-339. The notice told them of their right to appeal and the procedures to do so. CP 337-39. The Klineburgers timely appealed. CP 340-361.

Klineburger's expert William Taylor evaluated the site according to the criteria of KCC 21A.24.260(G)(1)(a)(b)(c)(d). CP 409-420.

The report stated that the base flood depth at the building location was "slightly less than 3 feet with the exception of the southeast corner of the building" and that Taylor proposed to "adjust the grade slightly in that area to achieve compliance with the Base Flood Depth requirements of the code." *Id.* at 416. He found no evidence of flood-related erosion. CP 409. He noted that the "entire site" is located in the moderate channel migration hazard area of a federally mapped floodway. CP 409. But his inspection of the property disclosed "no signs of historic erosion," and "reports from long-term residents verify this." CP 409. Taylor's report did not address the warning system requirement. CP 409-420.

On October 22, 2012, Ecology floodplain specialist David Radabaugh sent a letter to Steve Bleifuhs, manager of the County's River and Floodplain Management Section. Radabaugh explained to Bleifuhs

that Ecology had determined the Klineburger site did not meet most of the required criteria for rebuilding in a floodway. CP 421-22. Radabaugh invited Bleifuhs to contact him or the engineer who reviewed the report with any questions about Ecology's "decision." Radabaugh sent a copy of this letter to Stephen Klineburger. CP 166.

A week later, Taylor sent Bleifuhs a response to Radabaugh's letter. CP 167-68. Taylor disputed Ecology's conclusions about flood depth and erosion and attached "reference pages from King County's website regarding flood alert programs." CP 167-68.

On December 18, 2012, Radabaugh responded to Taylor's letter in a second letter to Bleifuhs, in which he rejected most of Taylor's explanations and arguments. CP 436- 438. Radabaugh reminded Bleifuhs that before the County may issue a permit for a replacement residence in the floodway, Ecology must expressly recommend approval, repeating that Ecology "[did] not recommend" approval of the Klineburgers' replacement construction. CP 438. Once again, Mr. Radabaugh invited questions to contact him or the engineer who worked on the project. CP 438. Klineburger was one of the four people who were sent copies. CP 182.

In January 2013, Bleifuhs communicated Ecology's conclusion to DPER's permitting department, advising that the Klineburgers' site

"should not be approved for reconstruction or replacement of a residential structure." CP 386-389.

On March 20, 2013, the King County hearing examiner heard the Klineburgers' code enforcement appeal. CP 258-327, 623. On April 3, 2013, the appeal was denied. CP 333-334.

The Klineburgers appealed to superior court under LUPA. They asked the court to order King County to issue a permit to place a home on the property on the basis that either the lot is not in a floodway and "none of these regulations matter" or that the Klineburgers have met the criteria for an exception allowing development in the floodway.

The trial court agreed that "the County's decision was constrained by the law applicable to such decisions" but decided the superior court "has jurisdiction under the Constitution to review the decision of the Washington State Department of Ecology adopted by King County as their own to determine if the Department of Ecology/King County correctly interpreted the law and applied [it] to the facts in the case." CP 155-159. The court stated that it "is left with a definite and firm conviction a mistake has been made." CP 158.

The trial court adopted most of the findings of fact in the Klineburgers' proposed order, as well as some findings from the hearing examiner's decision, concluding, "The Court gives weight to the King

County Hearing Examiner's [findings and conclusions] that Klineburger proved that 428 Ave. SE had a localized diking effect." CP 155.

The trial court further held "[T]he County is ordered to allow the Petitioner to apply for whatever permits are needed to legalize his modular home and the permit is to be processed with the requirement the four criteria in WAC 173-158-076(1) (a) (b) [sic] and KCC 21A.24.260 (G) (1) (a) (b)(c)(d) [sic] have been met." CP 158.

The County appealed and Ecology intervened in the appeal. CP 220-221. The Klineburgers cross appealed, contending they successfully demonstrated that the floodway regulations do not apply because their property is not in the floodway.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and held the Klineburgers failed to exhaust their administrative remedies by not appealing the Department of Ecology decision to the Pollution Control Hearings Board; the trial court could not reach the merits of the Department of Ecology decision on its own; and because the Department of Ecology was a necessary party to the litigation and had not been joined, the trial court not reach the merits of the Department of Ecology's decision through the LUPA hearing. *Klineburger v. King County Dept. of Development and Environment Services Bldg.*, 2015 WL 4610419, at 14-

15. In addition, due to the fact the Department of Ecology was not a local agency; their decision was not subject to LUPA actions. *Id.* at 14.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Klineburger's Were Not Given Required Statutory Notice of a Right To Appeal An Agency's Final Decision and Were Denied Their Statutory Right of Review.

The Decision is in Conflict with a Decision of the Court of Appeals in Division 2, RAP 13.4(b)(2); the Decision also Involves A Significant Question of Law Under the State Constitution Because It Impinges On Property Rights Without Assuring Statutory Due Process is Afforded, and The Decision Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Because It Allows State Agencies to Take Final Action Without Giving Appropriate Statutory Notice of A Parties' Right to Appeal an Agency Decision. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4); WA Const. Art. 1, §3. U.S. Const. amend. V. (The Klineburgers will lose their house unless they have some forum where they can challenge the Department of Ecology's position)

The need of an agency to provide required notice of appeal rights in land use decisions has already been established. <u>Felida Neighborhood</u>

<u>Ass'n v. Clark County</u>, 81 Wn.App. 155, 913 P.2d 823 (1996).

In <u>Felida</u>, an application for a development was heard by a land use hearing examiner. The matter then went to the FEIS Board which issued an oral decision on February 4, 1993 and memorialized that decision in a March 10, 1993 resolution. The County failed to file an official notice of its decision in violation of its own ordinance.

A letter was eventually sent dated July 26, 1993 which indicated the March action was the "final Board Action" and the time to file a judicial appeal had expired. *Id.* at 158. A group opposing the plan filed writs of certiorari and prohibition approximately nine months after the March decision. The Superior Court dismissed the writs because they were untimely. *Id.* at 158.

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded. The first argument rejected by the <u>Felida</u> Court was the claim the Superior Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the underlying decision had not been timely appealed. The <u>Felida</u> Court rightly noted that was not the issue. It found the County failed to give official notice of its underlying governmental action in violation of its own ordinance. As a result, the issue on appeal was whether the County's failure to give notice tolled the time for applying for a writ of review in Superior Court. *Id.* at 160-61.

That Court went on to state:

Where statutorily-prescribed adequate notice of an administrative decision is integral to the process of invoking appellate jurisdiction, adequate notice is the statutorily required event that triggers the period for a timely appeal.

Id. at 161.

¹ The Court in the instant case used that reasoning in part to reverse the Superior Court. That conclusion is in clear conflict with the reasoning of the <u>Felida</u> Court. <u>Kineburger</u> at paragraph 37

The Court went on to find that if, upon remand, the Superior Court could find that substantial compliance with the notice requirements had been met, the matter would be barred as untimely, however, if the Superior Court did not find substantial compliance with the notice requirements, the Superior Court was directed to review the merits of the underlying issue. *Id.* at 162-63. The holding of <u>Felida</u> is directly in conflict with the Court's decision in the instant case.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals disregarded the argument that King County and the Department of Ecology failed to follow the statutory notice requirements that would trigger the Kineburger's right to appeal Ecology's decision.

The Court of Appeals found the Klineburgers failed to exhaust their administrative remedies because they did not appeal the "ruling" of the Department of Ecology concerning their land. That "ruling" ostensibly appeared in agency letters. As a result of that "ruling" not being appealed by the Klineburgers, it could not be disturbed by either the King County Hearing Examiner or the King County Superior Court.

The Klineburger's property was addressed in three relevant letters. Two from the Department of Ecology, one dated October 22, 2010 and the other December 18, 2012, and one from the King County Department of Natural Resources and Parks dated January 8, 2013.

RCW 43.21B.310(4), dealing with the Environmental and Land Use Hearings Office as it pertains to Pollution Control Hearings Board processes requires:

An appealable decision or order shall be identified as such and shall contain a conspicuous notice to the recipient that it may be appealed only by filing an appeal with the hearings board serving it on the issuing agency within thirty days of the date of the receipt.

(Emphasis added).

None of the letters received by the Klineburgers contained any language as required by the statute. It is plain on the face of the documents they failed to meet the notice requirements if the letters are to be considered final appealable rulings. Consequently, the Klineburgers did not pursue a hearing before the Pollution Control Hearings Board because the ruling agency failed to notify them the letters they sent constituted appealable decisions. Instead, the Klineburgers pursued the only avenue that appeared available to them, a hearing before the King County Hearing Examiner on the permitting issues.

The catch 22 faced by the Klineburgers through that approach was the King County Hearing Examiner felt constrained to challenge anything set forth in the Department of Ecology letters. By that time, the opportunity for the Klineburgers to challenge the Department of Ecology "ruling" had passed. Because the letters in question failed to contain the

required statutory language, the Klineburgers were shut out of their appeal opportunity. That is the exact same problem created in Felida supra.

Not only did the purported letter "rulings" in <u>Klineburger</u> not contain the necessary statutory notice requirements, but it is questionable as to whether or not the last letter was even considered final by the Department of Ecology. The December 18, 2012 letter contains the language "Additionally, King county (sic) should consider whether this proposal is consistent with WAC 173-158-076(2):" The letter then goes on to set forth the WAC terms. By its own language, the Department of Ecology letter anticipated further action on the issue and it is incorrect to regard that letter as a final determination which cannot now be challenged because the Klineburgers failed to exhaust their administrative remedies.

The December 18, 2012 letter ends with the conclusion "If you have further questions, please contact me at ..." the letter goes on to set forth contact information for the author of the letter and contact information for the engineering report. There is nothing in that letter indicating it is an appealable decision or order. In fact, none of the letters involved in this case contain any language which could be considered conspicuous notice to the recipient that it may be appealed only by filing an appeal with the hearings board and serving it on the issuing agency within thirty days of the date of receipt. RCW 43.21B.310(4).

Regardless of the above, the Court of Appeals found the letters to be final decisions the Klineburgers failed to appeal to the Board. ² Further, the Court of Appeals held the mandatory statutory notice of the right to appeal was not required to be in those letters, relying on <u>Hagman v. Dep't of Ecology</u>, No. 14-016c (Wash. Pollution Control Hrg's Bd. Dec. 3, 2014 copy attached as Ex. 2).

Hagman involved an appeal from a denial by the Department of Ecology to terminate coverage of a Construction Stormwater General Permit. There, Hagman claimed he should be terminated from coverage because the site had stabilized. Ecology sent Hagman an email denying the notice of termination. Hagman appealed that denial to the Pollution Control Hearings Board. At the hearing, Ecology argued the board shouldn't have jurisdiction to hear a denial issue. In rejecting the argument, the Hearings Board stated in a footnote:

The fact that the email communicating Ecology's denial of Mr. Hagman's Notice of Termination did not include appeal language is not dispositive of whether the agency action at issue is appealable to the Board. While RCW 43.21B.310(4) requires that appealable decisions "shall contain a conspicuous notice to the recipient that it may be appealed only by filing an appeal with the hearings board", the failure to include this language does not divest the Board of its jurisdiction or impact whether the decision may be appealed.

(Order at p.14).

² Court of Appeals Decision at Paragraph 33.

The issue in <u>Hagman</u> was not whether proper notice had been given. The issue was whether after a party appealed, the Board would exercise its jurisdiction in spite of the fact no proper notice had been given.

In the instant case, the ramifications of extending the language of the <u>Hagman</u> decision to allow an appealable ruling from an agency to omit the statutory notice of appeal requirements would have the effect of allowing the Pollution Hearings Control Board decision to rewrite legislation.

There is clearly a difference between a board exercising its jurisdiction to hear a case although an agency failed to comply with statutory notice requirements, and the instant case where a party is denied a right to appeal *because* the agency failed to provide statutory notice requirements. The holding that the Klineburger's failed to exhaust their administrative remedies was in error and if allowed to stand will adversely impact the property rights of the citizens of the State. It is also in clear conflict with the holding in Felida, *supra*.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals found the letters were appealable decisions in spite of the fact they lacked the required notice of right to appeal language. The Court then proceeded to try to distinguish the letters in the instant case from letters in cases the Hearings Board

found were not appealable. The analysis by the Court of Appeals fails to contemplate the actual meaning of <u>Hagman</u>, *supra*, and the distinction is in error.

In Sylvia Ridge Developers, LLC v. Department of Ecology, PCHB No. 07-139 (2008)³ the Board determined a noncompliance notification was not an order appealable to the Pollution Control Board because first, the document is captioned "non-compliance notification" and not order. The Board went on to hold a further indication the noncompliance notification was not an order was *because it did not contain the appeal language required under RCW 43.21B.310(4). Id.* at p.5.

The second case is <u>Steensma v. Washington Department of Ecology and Bayes Brothers, LLC</u>, PCHB No. 11-053 (2011).⁴ There, the Board held a letter by Ecology to the Whatcom County Health Department commenting on a Bertand Creek Estates proposal for water for the subdivision was not a civil penalty, regulatory order, or water right relinquishment order. The Board further noted it was not sent directly to the applicant, (remember the Klineburgers were not applicants because they were not allowed to apply for a permit) *and it did not contain any*

³ Case attached at Appendix 30-35.

⁴ Case attached at Appendix 36-44.

language indicating it was an appealable decision as required by RCW 43.21B.310 (4). ⁵ Id. at p.7.

Consequently, review should also be accepted on the grounds there is a conflict between the decisions of the Pollution Control Board and the interpretation of those decisions by the Court of Appeals. It needs to be determined, if the notice of appeal language required by RCW 43.21B.310(4) does not appear in the document sent by an agency, *is it, or is it not*, a Final Appealable Order? This is a matter of substantial public importance. The average citizen cannot be expected to distinguish between letters from the Department of Ecology that amount to non-appealable decision letters and those qualifying as appealable orders without the benefit of the mandatory language of RCW 43.21B.310(4).

2. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts With Case Law Regarding the Remedy When a Necessary Party is Not Joined.

The Decision is in Conflict With A Decision of the Supreme Court Regarding the Appropriate Remedy When a Necessary Party is Not Joined. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

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