RECEIVED 
SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
Oct 16, 2015, 3:49pm 

BY RONALD R CARPENTER 
CLERK 

NO. 92233-1 

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL 

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

STEPHEN AND SANDRA KLINEBURGER, 

Appellants, 
v. 

KING COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES BUILDING AND FIRE SERVICE 

DIVISION CODE ENFORCEMENT SECTION and STATE OF 
WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, 

Respondents. 

STATE OF WASIDNGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S 
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

KATHARINE G. SHIREY, WSBA #35736 
Assistant Attorney General 

Office ID No. 91024 
P.O. Box 40117 
Olympia, W A 98504-0117 
(360) 586-6769

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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Klineburgers' Case Does Not Meet the Requirements for 
Review by the State Supreme Court 

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only: (1) if the 

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the 

Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 

with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant 

question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the 

United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 

Court. RAP 13.4(b). 

In an attempt to meet these criteria, the Klineburgers make three 

primary arguments: first, they claim they were denied due process under 

the Washington State and United States Constitutions because, under the 

Court of Appeals' ruling, they allegedly had no available forum to 

challenge Ecology's arguments. Petition at 8.1 Second, they argue that 

the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case conflicts with other 

Washington appellate decisions in Felida Neighborhood Association v. 

Clark County, 81 Wn. App. 155, 913 P.2d 823 (1996), and Burtv. 

1 While the Klineburgers cite to the Washington Constitution article I, section 3 
and the U.S. Constitution Amendment V for this proposition, they provide no analysis 
and cite to no case law demonstrating how their due process rights were allegedly 
violated. 
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Department of Corrections, 168 Wn.2d 828, 231 P.3d 191 (2010). 

Petition at 8, 17. Finally, the Klineburgers assert that the case involves an 

issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals decision 

allows state agencies to take final action without giving appropriate 

statutory notice of a party's right to appeal.. Petition at 8. All of these 

arguments lack merit. 

1. The Court of Appeals decisio·n does not deny the 
Klineburgers due process because they had an 
opportunity to appeal Ecology's decision to the 
Pollution Control Hearings Board 

The Klineburgers claim that the Court of Appeals deprived them of 

due process by depriving them of all means of challenging Ecology's 

determination regarding their request to reconstruct a residence in the 

floodway. Petition at 1. The Klineburgers mischaracterize the Court of 

Appeals' decision. The Court of Appeals did not deny the Klineburgers 

any right of review: the Court of Appeals simply followed existing 

precedent and statutes to rule that the Klineburgers' efforts to seek review 

under LUP A were unavailing. The Court of Appeals correctly found that 

Ecology's decision was not a land use decision by local government 

appealable to superior court under the LUPA. Klineburger, 356 P.3d 

at 230. The Court of Appeals also correctly determined that, under the 
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governing statutes, RCW 86.16.1102 and RCW 43.21B.l10,3 Ecology's 

decision, like most Ecology decisions, was appealable to the Pollution 

Control Bearings Board. Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 232. 

In reaching its decision, the Court of Appeals was guided by an 

analogous case decided by this Court, Stafne v. Snohomish County, 174 

Wn.2d 24, 271 P.3d 868 (2012). Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 232-33. In 

Stafne, a landowner challenged a city's decision about a comprehensive 

plan amendment by filing a petition under the Land Use Petition Act. 

Stafne, 174 Wn.2d at 28-29. Under the Growth Management Act, a 

challenge to a comprehensive plan amendment must first be appealed to 

the Growth Management Hearings Board. RCW 36.70A.280(1)(a); 

Stafne, 174 Wn.2d at 34. In Stafne, the Court ruled that the case could not 

be appealed to superior court under LUP A, stating, "[ e ]yen if the chances 

for successful review before the growth board are slim, that cannot change 

a nonland use decision into a land use decision under LUPA." Stafne, 174 

Wn.2d at 34; see also Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 232. The Court of Appeals 

decision below is consistent with Stafne. 

2 RCW 86.16.110 states, "Any person . . . feeling aggrieved at any order, 
decision, or determination of the department [of Ecology] ... pursuant to this chapter, 
affecting his or her interest, may have the same reviewed [by the Pollution Control 
Hearings Board] pursuant to RCW 43.21B.310." 

3 RCW 43.21B.I10(1)(b) provides that the Pollution Control Hearings Board has 
jurisdiction over Ecology decisions made under RCW 86.16. 
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The Klineburgers also contend that their due process rights were 

violated because Ecology did not include language in its letter 

determinations notifying them of their right to appeal to the Pollution 

Control Hearings Board. They claim the 30-day period for appealing to 

the Pollution Control Hearings Board should be tolled until proper notice 

is given. Petition at 2. 

As a threshold matter, this issue is not properly before this Court as 

it has never before been raised in this case. RAP 2.5. The issue was not 

raised to the Hearing Examiner, to the Superior Court, or to the Court of 

Appeals. "As a general matter, an argument neither pleaded nor argued to 

the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." Washington 

Fed. Sav. v. Klein, 177 Wn. App. 22, 29, 311 P.3d 53, 56 (2013), review 

denied, 179 Wn.2d 1019 (20 14). 

Beyond that, the issue fails to ra1se a constitutional question. 

RCW 43.21B.310(4) does require appealable decisions to include 

language stating that the decision may be appealed only by filing an 

appeal at the Pollution Control Hearings Board. RCW 43.21B.310(4). 

However, case law is clear that substantial compliance with such notice 

requirements is sufficient. Leson v. Ecology, 59 Wn. App. 407, 799 P.2d 

268 (1990) (noting that substantial compliance with notice requirements is 

sufficient to invoke court jurisdiction); Fe !ida Neighborhood Ass 'n, 81 
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Wn. App. 155 (remanding to determine whether the County Board of 

Commissioners substantially complied with the notice requirements). 

Here, the Kline burgers received Ecology's determination letters and those 

letters referenced requirements in Chapter 86.16 RCW. CP 421-22; 

436-38. The table of contents of Chapter 86.16 RCW includes the entry, 

"RCW 86.16.110 Appeals." RCW 86.16.110 states that appeals of 

Ecology determinations made under RCW 86.16 are appealable to the 

Pollution Control Hearings Board. The co·urt of Appeals properly 

determined that this notice was sufficient. See Klineburger, 356 P.3d 

at 231, 232. The Kline burgers were not denied due process. 

In addition, as the Court of Appeals noted (Klineburger, 356 P.3d 

at 231 ), the Pollution Control Hearings Board has held that the presence or 

absence of the statutory appeal language in an Ecology decision is not 

dispositive of whether that decision is appealable to the Board: "[t]he 

failure to include [appealability] language does not divest the Board of its 

jurisdiction or impact whether the decision may be appealed." Hagman v. 

Ecology, Pollution Control Hearings Bd. No. 14-016c, Order on Motions 

at 14 n.4 (Dec. 3, 2014). The appealability of Ecology's determinations 

rests on the language of the relevant statutes that govern the Board's 

jurisdiction, not on whether Ecology includes appeal language. Because 

the Court of Appeals ruled correctly on this issue that the Klineburgers 
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received and could have appealed Ecology's determinations, there is no 

constitutional issue warranting review by this Court. 

2. The Court of Appeals decision in Klineburger does not 
conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in Felida 
Neighborhood Association 

The Klineburgers argue that the decision of the Court of Appeals 

Division 1 in Klineburger conflicts with the decision of the Court of 

Appeals Division 2 in Felida Neighborhood Association. Petition at 8-16. 

The Klineburgers note that the Court of Appeals in Felida ruled that the 

period for appealing Clark County's decision under the State 

Environmental Policy Act was tolled because the County failed to give 

timely notice of its action. Petition at 9. The Klineburgers' argument 

misses the mark. In this case, Ecology provided notice to the Klineburgers 

of its decision by sending them its decision letters. Petition at 4-5; 

Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 227. 

The Klineburgers do not claim that they did not receive Ecology's 

letters. Rather, the Klineburgers claim Ecology's letters provided 

inadequate notice because. they did not include language explaining how to 

appeal Ecology's decision. Petition at 10. The Klineburgers fail to note 

that Felida holds that substantial compliance with notice requirements is 

sufficient. Felida, 81 Wn. App. at 161. Here, the Klineburgers received 

Ecology's determination letters. Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 232. The Court 
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of Appeals in Klineburger found that the notice provided by Ecology's 

letters was sufficient. Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 231-32. In so holding, the 

Court of Appeals determined that Ecology's notice constituted substantial 

compliance. This ruling is entirely consistent with Felida. 

The Klineburgers also argue that the Court of Appeals in this case, 

m conflict with the Court of Appeals in Felida, determined that the 

Superior Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the underlying 

decision had not been timely appealed. Petition at 9 n.1 (citing to 

Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 232). The Klineburgers misstate the reasoning 

used by the Court of Appeals in this case. The question in this case was 

not whether Ecology's decision had been timely appealed. The question 

was whether the superior court could consider the Ecology determination 

under the Land Use Petition Act. Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 230, 232. The 

Court of Appeals' answer was no. /d. The court also looked at whether 

the Superior Court could review Ecology's determination under the 

Washington State Administrative Procedure Act. Klineburger, 356 P.3d 

at 231, 23 2. The Court of Appeals' answer was again, no under the 

circumstances presented. /d. The Court of Appeals stated, "Here, the 

[superior] court had the authority under [the Washington Administrative 

Procedure Act] to review an Ecology determination following a [Pollution 

Control Hearings Board] decision, with a more complete factual record to 
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do so. But by reaching the merits of Ecology's decision before the 

Klineburgers had exhausted their administrative remedies, the court 

exercised its jurisdiction prematurely and exceeded its authority under 

LUPA." Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 232. This determination does not 

concern timeliness and, thus, contrary to the Klineburgers' assertions, does 

not conflict with the decision on timeliness in Felida. 

3. There is no confli~t between the Court of Appeals 
decision in Klineburger and the case law on the remedy 
for failure to join a necessary party 

The Klineburgers also argue that, according to prior cases, the 

proper remedy when a necessary party is not joined by the trial court is 

vacation of the judgment with remand to the trial court for proceedings 

after proper joinder. Petition at 17 (citing Burt, 168 Wn.2d at 836-37). 

The Klineburgers contend that the decision below is at odds with that case 

law because the Court of Appeals did not vacate the Superior Court's 

judgment with remand for proceedings after proper joinder. Petition at 17. 

The Klineburgers are mistaken. In this case, the Court of Appeals 

determined that the trial court could not review Ecology's determination 

under LUPA because Ecology's determination was not a land use decision 

by a local government. Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 230, 232. . The 

Klineburgers have not contested that ruling. Given that the superior court 

cannot rule on Ecology's determination, remand to superior court in this 
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case would be useless, and would not provide the Klineburgers with the 

remedy they seek-a decision on Ecology's determination. 

4. This case does not involve an issue of substantial public 
interest because whether appeal language is included in 
an appealable decision does not affect a party's 
underlying right of appeal 

The Klineburgers claim that this case involves an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court because 

the Court of Appeals decision allows state agencies to take final action 

without giving appropriate statutory notice of a party's right to appeal. 

Petition at 8. They claim it is a matter of substantial public interest to 

determine whether, in the absence of appealability language, a document 

sent by an agency is or is not a final appealable order. Petition at 16. The 

Klineburgers overstate the importance of the appealability language. In 

fact, this issue is not of substantial public interest because the presence or 

absence of appeal language has no bearing on the recipient's rights. The 

recipient's rights of appeal to the Pollution Control Hearings Board are 

governed entirely by the statute specifying the types of agency decisions 

over which the Pollution Control Hearings Board has jurisdiction. See 

RCW 43.21B.110(1). 

Consistent with this analysis, Pollution Control Hearings Board 

rulings have found that the grant of jurisdiction found in the Board's 
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enabling statute governs. See Sylvia Ridge Developers, LLC v. Ecology, 

Pollution Control Hearings Bd. No. 07-139, Order Granting Summary 

Judgment to Ecology (Mar. 14, 2008) (Ecology noncompliance 

notification was not an appealable order because RCW 90.48.120(1) 

expressly provides that a _noncompliance determination does not constitute 

an order or directive under RCW 43.21B.310); Steensma v. Ecology, 

Pollution Control Hearings Bd. No. 11-053, Order Denying 

Reconsideration (Oct. 4, 2011) (finding Ecology letter was not an 

appealable decision, noting, "[t]he key point, however, which the Board 

already addressed in its summary judgment order, is that Ecology did not 

make a decision and therefore there can be no appeal to this Board"). 

Thus, the presence of appealability language cannot give the Board 

jurisdiction over an agency decision when the Board's enabling statute has 

not given the Board that jurisdiction. Likewise, where the Board's 

enabling statute has given the Board jurisdiction, the lack of appeal 

language cannot take that jurisdiction away. Hagman, PCHB 

No. 14-0 16c, Order on Motions (finding that Ecology's denial of a request 

for termination of coverage under the Construction General Stormwater 

Permit was an appealable action even though the denial did not include the 

statutory appeal language). The Kline burgers offer no reason for this 
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Court to revisit these principles or the Board decisions embodying them. 

Thus, this issue also does not constitute grounds for review. 

B. The Merits of Ecology's Decision Are Not Suitable for 
Supreme Court Review Because the Court of Appeals Did Not 
Reach the Merits, nor Did the Superior Court Have Authority 
Under LUPA to Reach the Merits 

The Kline burgers' petition includes a description of the evidence 

they presented to the hearing examiner to contest Ecology's decision. 

Petition at 18, 19. The Kline burgers also claim that "[t]he Court of 

Appeals erred when it found the Klineburger property was in the 

floodway." Petition at 19. In fact, the Court of Appeals did not find that 

the Klineburger property was in the floodway.4 Rather, the Court of 

Appeals properly declined to rule on the question. Klineburger, 356 P.3d 

at 233. 

Ecology was not a party to the hearing before the King County 

Hearing Examiner, and has not had the opportunity to present evidence on 

the merits of its determination. In briefing to the Court of Appeals, 

Ecology pointed out the undisputed fact that official maps include the 

Klineburgers' property in the flood plain, the floodway, and the channel 

4 The Court of Appeals did note that the Klineburgers' property was included in 
the floodway on the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) maps. 
Klineburger, 356 P.3d at 226. The Court of Appeals also determined that, because the 
Superior Court could not rule on Ecology's determination under LUPA, the Superior 
Court did not err in declining to order the County to process the Klineburgers' permits 
"as if the lot was not in the floodway." Id at 233. Neither of these determinations 
constitutes a ruling that the Klineburgers' property is in the floodway. 
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migration zone of the Middle Fork of the Snoqualmie River. Ecology also 

noted that the Klineburgers have not taken the steps necessary under 

federal, state, and local laws to remove their property from the floodway, 

the flood plain, or the channel migration zone. Finally, Ecology explained 

why, under the regulatory requirements applicable to a property in a 

floodplain, floodway, and channel migration zone, the Klineburgers' 

property does not meet the requirements for rebuilding a substantially 

damaged residence in the floodway. In making these arguments, Ecology 

pointed out that 428th Avenue SE does not meet the federal and local

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